

Constitution of Responsible Forest Management Australia Limited (ACN 120 667 870)

A company limited by guarantee registered in Victoria trading as FSC Australia

The words 'Forest Stewardship Council', the letters 'FSC' and the FSC 'checkmark and tree' logo are registered trademarks of the Forest Stewardship Council AC.

The trademarks are used with permission from FSC (FSC-SECR-0153). FSC reserves the right to withdraw accreditation and the right to use the FSC trademarks if the Company does not comply with the terms and conditions of the Accreditation Agreement between the Company and the FSC.

Table of Contents

1	Def	initions and Interpretation	6
	1.1	Definitions	6
	1.2	Interpretation	7
	1.3	Replaceable rules	7
2	Obj	ects	7
	2.1	Objects of the Company	7
	2.2	Achievement of objects	8
	2.3	Procedures of the Company	8
	2.4	Application of income and property to purposes	8
3	Me	mbership	9
	3.1	Members	9
	3.2	Eligible Members	9
	3.3	Sectoral Chamber Membership Structure	9
	3.4	Requirements of each Sectoral Chamber	9
	3.5	Limited liability of Members	10
	3.6	Members' liability on winding up	10
	3.7	Admission as a Member	10
	3.8	The Register	11
	3.9	Updating the Register	11
	3.10	Membership fee	11
	3.11	Resignation of a Member	12
	3.12	Non-payment of membership fee	12
	3.13	Misconduct of a Member	12
	3.14	Ceasing to be a Member	12
	3.15	Liability after a person ceases to be a Member	13
4	Ger	neral meetings	13
	4.1	Power to call general meeting	13
	4.2	Non-receipt of notice	13
	4.3	Business of general meetings	13
	4.4	Right of others to attend general meeting	13
5	Pro	ceedings at general meetings	13
	5.1	Number for a quorum	13
	5.2	Requirement for a quorum	13

	5.3	No quorum	13
	5.4	Chair of general meetings	14
	5.5	Absence of Chair	14
	5.6	Conduct of general meetings	14
	5.7	Adjournments	15
	5.8	Voting at general meetings	15
6	Prox	ies	16
	6.1	Right to appoint proxy	16
	6.2	Form of proxy	16
	6.3	Lodgement of proxies	16
	6.4	Validity of proxies	16
	6.5	Where proxy is incomplete	17
7	Annı	ual General Meetings	17
8	Spec	ial General Meetings	17
9	Spec	cial Business	17
10) Dir	ectors	18
	10.1	Sectoral Representation	18
	10.2	Qualification of Directors	18
	10.3	Term of Office	18
	10.4	Vacation of Office	18
	10.5	Remuneration	19
	10.6	Alternate Director	19
1:	1 Ele	ction of Directors	19
12	2 Pov	wers of Directors	20
	12.1	Powers of Directors	20
13	3 Pro	ceedings of Directors	21
	13.1	Directors meetings	21
	13.2	Quorum for Directors meetings	21
	13.3	Notice	21
	13.4	Directors meetings by technology	21
	13.5	Chair of Directors	22
	13.6	Directors' voting rights and exercise of powers	22
	13.7	Conflict of interests	22
	13.8	Material personal Interest	22

	13.9	Committees	23
	13.10	Special Advisory Groups	23
	13.11	Special Working Group	24
	13.12	Dispute Resolution Committee	24
	13.13	Written resolutions	24
	13.14	Defects in appointments	24
	13.15	If less than minimum number of Directors	25
14	4 Offi	cers	25
	14.1	Appointment of a Chief Executive Officer	25
	14.2	Powers of a Chief Executive Officer	25
	14.3	Appointment of Secretary	25
	14.4	Powers, duties and authorities of Secretary	25
	14.5	Termination of appointment of secretary	25
	14.6	Appointment of other officers	25
	14.7	Termination of appointment of other officers	25
15	5 Sea	ls	26
	15.1	Seals and their Use	26
16	5 Not	ices	26
	16.1	Notices generally	26
	16.2	Notice of General Meeting	26
	16.3	How notice may be given	26
	16.4	Personal service or delivery	26
	16.5	Notice by post	26
	16.6	Notice by fax or electronic mail	26
17	7 Wir	nding Up	27
	17.1	Winding Up	27
	17.2	Amalgamation	27
18	3 Ind	emnity	27
	18.1	Indemnity of Officers, Insurance and Access	27
19	9 The	Responsible Forest Management Australia Public Fund	28
	19.1	Establishment and Rules	28
	19.2	Winding Up of the Public Fund	29
	19.3	Statistical Return	29
	19.4	Compliance with Ministerial Rules	30

Schedule 1	31
Schedule 2	32
FSC Principles and Criteria	32
Introduction	
Schedule 3	
Schedule 4	
Worked example	
worked example	41

GENERAL

1 Definitions and Interpretation

1.1 Definitions

The following definitions apply in this constitution unless the context requires otherwise:

Alternate Director means the person(s) appointed by the Directors under Rule 10.7.

Applicant means a person intending to becoming a Member under Rule 3.7.

Board of Directors means the board of Directors of the Company.

Chair means the person occupying the position of chair of the Directors under Rule 13.5.

Chief Executive Officer means the chief executive appointed by the Directors under Rule 14.1.

Company means Responsible Forest Management Australia Limited trading as FSC Australia.

Consensus is as defined by the ISEAL Code of Good Practice for Setting Social and Environmental Standards and means general agreement characterised by the absence of sustained opposition to substantial issues by any important part of the concerned interests and by a process seeking to take into account the views of interested parties, particularly those directly affected and to reconcile any conflicting arguments.

Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) as amended from time to time.

Director means a person appointed or elected to the office of director of the Company in accordance with this constitution and, where appropriate, includes an Alternate Director.

Economic Chamber has the meaning set out in Rule 3.4(a).

Environmental Chamber has the meaning set out in Rule 3.4(b).

Financial Year means the year ending 31 December.

FSC means the Forest Stewardship Council A.C., an international not for profit organisation registered as a civil association in Mexico, or FSC IC, a not-for-profit organisation registered in the Federal Republic of Germany.

FSC Principles and Criteria means the principles and criteria of the Forest Stewardship Council contained in Schedule 2 of this constitution as amended from time to time by FSC.

FSC trademarks include the words 'Forest Stewardship Council', the letters 'FSC' and the FSC 'checkmark and tree' logo which are registered by FSC in a number of countries, including Australia. **Individual** means a natural person.

Individual Member means a Member who is an Individual.

Member has the meaning given in Rule 3.1.

Member Present means, in connection with a meeting, the Member present at the venue or venues for the meeting, in person or by proxy, by attorney or, where the Member is a body corporate, by representative.

Ordinary Resolution has the meaning provided under Rule 5.8(g).

Organisation means a body corporate, incorporated association, trust estate or statutory body.

Organisation Member means a Member that is an Organisation.

Person includes but is not limited to partnerships, companies, bodies corporates, unincorporated bodies and all other entities or companies recognised by law as well as individuals.

Privacy Laws means Australian law in relation to privacy including but not limited to the Privacy Act 1988 (Cth).

Procedures Manual means the set of procedures that may be adopted by the Board of Directors and amended from time to time as described in Rule 2.3.

Public Fund means Responsible Forest Management Australia Limited Public Fund referred to in, and established in accordance with, the rules of the Public Fund as set out in Rule 19.

Register means the register containing the list and details of Members as outlined in Rule 3.8.

Register of Environmental Organisations means the register of environmental organisations maintained by the Commonwealth Department responsible for the environment.

Right of Appeal is the avenue of appeal as defined in Rule 3.13(b)(iii).

Rule means a rule of this constitution.

Secretary means a person appointed as secretary of the Company in accordance with the Rules of this constitution.

Sectoral Chamber means one of the categories of membership as outlined in Rules 3.3 and 3.4. Stakeholder means any Person which the Directors consider have a legitimate interest in the Company, including, but not limited to its Members, Officers and employees.

Social Chamber has the meaning set out in Rule 3.4(c).

Special general meeting means a general meeting of the Association other than an annual general meeting.

Special Resolution has the meaning provided under Rule 5.8(h).

Standards and Policy Matters means a resolution in relation to any of the following matters: forest management standards of the FSC, chain of custody, accreditation or trade mark use.

1.2 Interpretation

Headings are for convenience only and do not affect interpretation. The following rules of interpretation apply unless any contrary intention appears in this constitution or the context requires otherwise.

- (a) The singular includes the plural and conversely.
- (b) Where a word or phrase is defined, its other grammatical forms have a corresponding meaning.
- (c) A reference to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation includes any modification or re-enactment of it, any legislative provision substituted for it, and all regulations and statutory instruments issued under it.
- (d) A word or phrase given a meaning in the Corporations Act has the same meaning in this constitution.
- (e) A schedule in this constitution is taken to be included as part of the constitution.
- (f) A reference to \$ means Australian dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

1.3 Replaceable rules

The replaceable rules contained in the Corporations Act do not apply to the Company.

2 Objects

2.1 Objects of the Company

The objects of the Company are to promote environmentally responsible, socially beneficial and economically viable management of forests consistent with the Forest Stewardship Council Principles and Criteria for responsible forest management.

Specifically, the Company strives to achieve these objects through:

- (a) the development of Australian national and regional standards for responsible forest management that are accredited internationally by FSC;
- (b) educational activities with forests including forest management companies, organisations involved in the processing, manufacture, trade, sale or use of products that include material originating in forests and forest communities;
- (c) the promotion of the FSC system to customers for forest products in Australia and the promotion of products that carry the FSC trademark;

- (d) relationship building activities with governments, industry groups, companies, educational bodies, trade unions, community groups, indigenous peoples' organisations, environmental and social non governmental organisations;
- (e) the encouragement of FSC accredited certification bodies to become active in the Australian market and to undertake reviews on the performance of the FSC system in Australia and the provision of feedback on that performance to Members; and
- (f) the establishment and maintenance of the Public Fund in accordance with the rules set out in Rule 19.

2.2 Achievement of objects

In order to achieve the principal objects of the Company set out in paragraph 2.1 and if so required under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 or the Guidelines to the Register of Environmental Organisations and so as to ensure that donations to the Company have tax deductible status under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997:

- (a) the Company shall comply with the rules of the Public Fund as set out in Rule 19;
- (b) the Company shall inform the Commonwealth Department responsible for the environment as soon as possible if:
 - (i) it changes its name or the name of the Public Fund;
 - (ii) there is any change to the membership of the management committee of the Public Fund; or
 - (iii) there has been any departure from the model rules for public funds located in the Guidelines to the Register of Environmental Organisations; and
- (c) any allocation of funds or property held in the Public Fund to other persons or organisations shall be made in accordance with the principal objects of the Company and will not be influenced by the preference of the donor.

2.3 Procedures of the Company

- (a) The Board of Directors may maintain a Procedures Manual that sets out the procedures for engaging, involving and consulting Stakeholders, and the resolution of disputes and complaints of FSC members and Stakeholder.
- (b) The processes and procedures outlined in the Procedure Manual shall reflect the principle of consensus decision making.
- (c) To the extent that any provision of the Procedures Manual is inconsistent with any provision of this Constitution, then this Constitution will prevail.

2.4 Application of income and property to purposes

- (a) Subject to paragraph (b) below, the income and property of the Company must be used and applied solely in promotion of its objects as set out in Rule 2.1. No part of that income or property may be paid or transferred, directly or indirectly, to any Member of the Company by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise or to the Directors in the form fees.
- (b) Paragraph 2.4(a) does not prevent the Company from making a payment in good faith to a Member or a Director:
 - of reasonable and proper remuneration for services (other than as a Director) provided to the Company;
 - (ii) for goods supplied in the ordinary course of business; or
 - (iii) of reasonable and proper rent for premises let by a Member or Director,

provided that such payments have been previously approved by the Board of Directors.

3 Membership

3.1 Members

- (a) The Members are those persons admitted to the membership of the Company whose names are entered into the Company's Register under Rule 3.8.
- (b) Two or more persons cannot be registered as holding a single membership interest, whether as joint tenants or as tenants in common.

3.2 Eligible Members

Membership of the Company may be open to any person who supports the objects of the Company outlined in Rule 2.1.

3.3 Sectoral Chamber Membership Structure

- (a) The membership of the Company shall be divided into the following three Sectoral Chambers:
 - (i) the Economic Chamber;
 - (ii) the Social Chamber; and
 - (iii) the Environmental Chamber.
- (b) All Members must belong to one of the Sectoral Chambers.
- (c) Subject to paragraph (d) the number of Sectoral Chambers may be increased by Special Resolution.
- (d) There must always be at least three Sectoral Chambers, being the Economic Chamber, Environmental Chamber and Social Chamber. This paragraph can be amended only with the unanimous support of all Members.
- (e) Where there is either uncertainty or a dispute about which Sectoral Chamber a Member belongs, that Member will be allocated to a Sectoral Chamber by the Board of Directors.

3.4 Requirements of each Sectoral Chamber

- (a) (Economic Chamber) Membership of the Economic Chamber is open to Persons who:
 - (i) principally have a commercial interest in forests, the production of forest products or the activities of FSC including, without limitation, employees, consultants and representatives of:
 - (A) forest management and forest product companies;
 - (B) certification bodies;
 - (C) industry associations (whether for profit or not-for-profit);
 - (D) wholesalers, retailers, traders, end-user and consulting companies; or
 - (E) academics and researchers whose primary interest relates to commercial activities associated with forests, production of forest products or the selling of forest products; and
 - (ii) have demonstrated active commitment to implementing or promoting the FSC Principles and Criteria for responsible forest management.
- (b) (Environmental Chamber) Membership of the Environmental Chamber is open to Persons, who:

- (i) principally have an environmental interest in forests, the production of forest products or the activities of FSC including, without limitation, employees, consultants and representatives of:
 - (A) not-for-profit, non-government environmental organisations whose principal purpose is protection, preservation or conservation of the natural environment;
 - (B) not-for-profit, non-government organisations whose principal interest is to promote or represent activities (such as bird watching or bush walking) and whose principal interest in FSC is the protection, preservation or conservation of the natural environment; or
 - (C) academics and researchers whose primary interest relates to the protection, preservation or conservation of the natural environment; and
- (ii) have demonstrated active commitment to implementing or promoting the FSC Principles and Criteria for responsible forest management.
- (c) (Social Chamber) Membership of the Social Chamber is open to Persons, who:
 - (i) principally have a social or community interest in forests, the production of forest products or the activities of FSC including, without limitation, employees, consultants and representatives of:
 - (A) not-for-profit, non-government organisations of forest community organisations or community forest organisations;
 - (B) organisations of indigenous people;
 - (C) trade unions and other organisations representing forest workers, workers fabricating or producing forest products or using forest products;
 - (D) other not for profit, non-government organisations whose principal interest is the social benefits of forests; or
 - (E) academics and researchers whose primary interest is social issues associated with forest management, and
 - (ii) have demonstrated active commitment to implementing or promoting the FSC Principles and Criteria for responsible forest management.

3.5 Limited liability of Members

The liability of the Members is limited.

3.6 Members' liability on winding up

Each Member undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Company in the event of it being wound up while they are a Member, or within one year after they cease to be a Member, for payment of the debts and liabilities of the Company and of the costs, charges and expenses of winding up, such amount as may be required not exceeding \$2.00.

3.7 Admission as a Member

- (a) An Applicant must submit a signed written application which is also signed by a proposer and seconder (both of whom must be Members) to the Secretary in the form determined by the Directors.
- (b) If the Applicant is an Organisation, then in addition to the requirement under Rule 3.7(a), it must include with this a copy of the most recent audited financial statements of the Applicant Organisation or, if no such statements are audited, financial statements of the Applicant

- Organisation for its most recent financial year as certified by all of the directors of the Organisation.
- (c) At the next meeting of Directors after the receipt of an application for membership, the Directors will consider the application and decide whether or not to admit the Applicant in their absolute discretion.
- (d) If the Directors decide not to admit an Applicant to the membership, they do not have to give any reasons for their decision.
- (e) When an Applicant is admitted, the Secretary must within 28 days notify the Applicant and request payment of the membership fee.
- (f) Where Privacy Laws permit, Members will be notified of new Members by publication in the periodic FSC Australia newsletter of the name and Sectoral Chamber and the state or territory of residence (or registration for an Organisation) of any new Members within 60 days
- (g) If the Applicant does not pay the membership fee within 60 days after the date on which the Applicant is notified that the subscription is payable, the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, cancel the acceptance of the Applicant's application for membership.
- (h) When the Company receives payment from the Applicant of the membership fee, the Applicant will be registered in the Company's Register and will immediately become a Member. If the person applying for membership is an Organisation it must nominate a principal contact person and at least one other person as that Organisation's representative for the purpose of exercising the rights and privileges of membership and for correspondence.

3.8 The Register

- (a) The Secretary must keep and maintain a Register containing the following:
 - (i) the name and address (postal and where available, electronic) of each Member;
 - (ii) date on which each Member's name was entered in the Register;
 - (iii) the Sectoral Chamber to which each Member belongs;
 - (iv) Whether the Member is an Individual or an Organisation; and
 - (v) For Members who are Organisations:
 - (A) the nominated representative of the Organisation; and
 - (B) the size and type of the Organisation in accordance with the definitions prescribed by the Board of Directors by resolution from time to time.
- (b) For Members who are Individuals, they will have the option not to disclose their private residential address and simply indicate the State in which they are resident.
- (c) The Register is available for inspection free of charge by any Member upon reasonable request subject to 3.8(b).
- (d) A Member may make a copy of entries in the Register.
- (e) The Register must be kept at the principal place of administration of the Company.

3.9 Updating the Register

- (a) It is the responsibility of each Member to notify the Secretary in writing of any changes to their details as described in the Register.
- (b) The last details to be entered in the Register will be deemed to be correct.
- (c) Each Member who is an Organisation, within 120 days after each Financial Year, must provide a copy of its most recent annual audited financial statements or, if no such financial statements are audited, a copy of the financial statements of the Member for its most recent financial year.

3.10 Membership fee

The Directors may from time to time determine a membership fee for any class of Members and the terms of payment of the membership fee.

The Company must give each Member notice in writing of any change in the membership fee and terms of payment at least 3 months before the change takes effect. The Company must make copies

of the Directors' determination of the membership fee and terms of payment freely available to the public, Members and Applicants for membership.

3.11 Resignation of a Member

Provided that any Member seeking to resign from the Company has paid all moneys due and payable by that Member to the Company, that Member may resign from the Company by giving at least one month's notice (or such other shorter period as the Board of Directors may determine) in writing to the Secretary of their intention to resign.

3.12 Non-payment of membership fee

- (a) If the membership fee of a Member remains unpaid for a period of 60 days after it becomes due, the Secretary will give written notice to the Member of that fact.
- (b) If the membership fee remains unpaid more than 28 days after the date of the notice given under paragraph (a) the Directors may cancel the membership of that Member and remove that Member's name from the Register.

3.13 Misconduct of a Member

- (a) The Directors together with the Chief Executive Officer may expel from the Company any Member:
 - (i) who does not comply with the provisions of this constitution;
 - (ii) who has acted in a manner which is demonstrably inconsistent with their membership and the objects of the Company as outlined in Rule 2.1; or
 - (iii) whose conduct in the opinion of the Directors is prejudicial to the interests of the Company.
- (b) At least 21 days before the Directors and Chief Executive Officer hold a meeting to expel a Member the Directors must send a notice to the Member with the following information:
 - (i) the allegations against the Member;
 - (ii) the proposed resolution for the Member's expulsion;
 - (iii) that the Member has an opportunity at the meeting to address the allegations either orally or in writing (referred to as a *Right of Appeal*); and
 - (iv) that the Member may elect to have the question of expulsion dealt with by the Company in general meeting, provided that the Member notifies the Secretary in writing, at least 48 hours before the meeting at which the resolution is to be considered by the Directors.
- (c) A Member who is subject to a proposed expulsion under Rule 3.13(a) may exercise their Right of Appeal by presenting reasons to the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer as to why the proposed expulsion under Rule 3.13(a) should be dismissed.
- (d) Pursuant to Rule 3.13(c), the Board of Directors together with the Chief Executive Officer have the discretion to dismiss the proposed expulsion under Rule 3.13(a).
- (e) For a decision of the Directors and Chief Executive Officer to expel a Member under Rule 3.13(a) or to dismiss a proposed expulsion under Rule 3.13(a) to take effect, the decision must be made by at least the Chief Executive Officer and three Directors nominated by different Sectoral Chambers.
- (f) The Company must expel a Member and remove the Member's name from the Register where:
 - (i) a general meeting is held to expel a Member; and
 - (ii) a resolution is passed in accordance with procedures set out in Rule 5.8(h) for a Special Resolution.

3.14 Ceasing to be a Member

Membership of the Company will automatically cease upon the occurrence of any of the following:

- (a) in the case of a Member who is a natural person, on the date that:
 - (i) the Member dies:
 - (ii) the Member becomes of an unsound mind;

- (iii) the Member becomes a person whose estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the laws relating to mental health; or
- (b) in a case of a Member which is a body corporate, on the date that:
 - (i) a liquidator is appointed in connection with the winding up of the Member; or
 - (ii) an order is made by a court for the winding up or deregistration of the Member.

3.15 Liability after a person ceases to be a Member

A person who has membership of the Company who ceases their membership of the Company must pay to the Company:

- (a) all membership fees or other amounts owing to the Company which are due and unpaid at the date that the Member ceases to be a Member; and
- (b) amounts which the Member is liable to pay under Rule 3.6.

4 General meetings

4.1 Power to call general meeting

Three Directors, one from each Sectoral Chamber, may call for a general meeting of the Company whenever they think fit.

4.2 Non-receipt of notice

The fact that a person entitled to receive notice of a general meeting does not receive that notice or is accidentally not given notice, does not invalidate any resolution passed at the meeting.

4.3 Business of general meetings

Unless all Members are present as Members Present and agree otherwise, the only business to be transacted at a general meeting will be that set out in the notice.

4.4 Right of others to attend general meeting

Any other person (whether a Member or not) requested by the Directors to attend any general meeting is entitled to be present and, at the request of the Chair, to speak at that general meeting.

5 Proceedings at general meetings

5.1 Number for a quorum

Six Members Present being entitled to vote at the meeting, with at least one Member from each Sectoral Chamber, constitute a quorum for the conduct of the business of a general meeting.

5.2 Requirement for a quorum

No business may be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum of Members is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.

5.3 No quorum

- (a) If there is no quorum at a general meeting within 30 minutes after the time specified in the notice of the meeting, the meeting is dissolved unless:
 - (i) the Directors adjourn the meeting to a date, time and place determined by the Directors; or

- (ii) if there are no Directors present at the meeting, the Chair adjourns the meeting to a date, time and place determined by the Chair.
- (b) If no quorum is present at any adjourned meeting within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the Members Present (being not less than one Member from each Sectoral Chamber) shall be a quorum.

5.4 Chair of general meetings

The Chair of Directors shall chair general meetings of the Company, subject to this Rule and Rule 5.5. If the Chair of Directors is unable to attend a general meeting or does not wish to act as Chair, the Board of Directors may nominate a person to chair the general meeting.

5.5 Absence of Chair

Where a general meeting is held and:

- (a) there is no Chair; or
- (b) the Chair is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting or does not wish to act as Chair of the meeting,

the Directors present may choose one of their number or, in the absence of all Directors or if none of the Directors present wish to act, the Members Present may elect one of their number to be Chair of the meeting.

5.6 Conduct of general meetings

- (a) As a general principle, to the extent possible, Consensus will be adopted as the principle form of decision making at meetings of the Company.
- (b) Subject to Rule 5.6(a), the general conduct and procedures to be adopted at the meeting are as determined at, during or prior to the meeting by the Chair of the meeting.
- (c) The Chair of the meeting may make rulings without putting the question (or any question) to the vote if the Chair of the meeting considers action is required to ensure the orderly conduct of the meeting.
- (d) At any time the Chair of the meeting considers it necessary or desirable for the proper and orderly conduct of the meeting, the Chair of the meeting may demand the cessation of debate or discussion on any business, question, motion or resolution being considered by the meeting and require the business, question, motion or resolution to be adjourned or put to a vote of the Members Present.
- (e) Any determination by the Chair of the meeting in relation to matters of procedure (including any procedural motions moved at, or put to, any meeting) or any other matter arising directly or indirectly from the business is final (including any procedural motions moved at, or put to, any meeting). Any challenge to a right to vote or to a determination to allow or disregard to vote may only be made at the meeting and may be determined by the Chair of the meeting whose decision is final.
- (f) If a person purports to cast a vote in contravention of the Corporations Act, the Chair of the meeting may determine that the vote be disregarded and treated as not having been cast.
- (g) Nothing contained in this Rule 5.6 limits the powers conferred on a Chair of a meeting by law.

5.7 Adjournments

- (a) During the course of a general meeting, the Chair of the meeting may, and if so directed by the meeting must, adjourn the meeting or any business, motion, question or resolution being considered or remaining to be considered by the meeting or any debate or discussion either to a later time at the same meeting or to a meeting held at another time and place determined by the Chair.
- (b) If the Chair of the meeting exercises a right of adjournment under Rule 5.7(a), the Chair has the sole discretion to decide whether to seek the approval of the Members Present to the adjournment and, unless the Chair exercises that discretion, no vote may be taken by the Members Present in respect of the adjournment.
- (c) The only business that may be transacted at any adjourned meeting is the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
- (d) When a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as in the case of an original meeting. Otherwise it is not necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

5.8 Voting at general meetings

- (a) Upon any question arising at a general meeting of the Company, each of the Sectoral Chambers shall have an equal share of the voting power.
- (b) Each Member shall have one vote subject to the following adjustments:
 - (i) first, if more than 10% of Members of a Sectoral Chamber are Individuals the vote that the Individual Member can exercise shall be reduced by such proportion so that the total number of votes that the Individual Members in the Sectoral Chamber can exercise shall be 10% of the total number of votes that can be exercised by all the members of the Sectoral Chamber; and
 - (ii) second, the votes of each Member in a Sectoral Chamber (other than the Sectoral Chamber which but for this rule would have the largest voting power (the Largest Sectoral Chamber)) shall be increased proportionally so that the voting power of that Sectoral Chamber shall be the same as the Largest Sectoral Chamber. The purpose of this rule is to ensure that each Sectoral Chamber has the same voting power.

A worked example of Rules 5.8(b)(i) and 5.8(b)(ii) is provided in Schedule 4.

- (c) Subject to Rule 5.8(d), for the purposes of Rule 5.8(b), the Secretary will be responsible for providing the percentage of Individuals in each Sectoral Chamber, and for this reason will rely on the information contained in the Register as outlined in Rule 3.8 and updated in accordance with Rule 3.9.
- (d) In the absence of the Secretary for the purposes of Rule 5.8(c), at least three Directors, each from a different Sectoral Chamber will jointly undertake this role.
- (e) Subject to this constitution and any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of Members, at general meetings each Member entitled to attend and vote may attend and vote in person or by proxy, by attorney or (where the Member is an Organisation) by representative.
- (f) A Member is not entitled to vote at a general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the Member to the Company have been paid.
- (g) An Ordinary Resolution voted upon by Members will be considered carried if:

- i. more than 50% of the Members Present of each Sectoral Chamber vote in favour of the resolution; and
- ii. all Sectoral Chambers vote in favour of the resolution in accordance with paragraph(i).
- (h) A Special Resolution voted upon by Members will be considered carried if:
 - no less than 75% of the Members Present of each Sectoral Chamber vote, in favour of the resolution; and
 - ii. (ii) all Sectoral Chambers vote in favour of the resolution in accordance with paragraph(i).
 - (i) All votes shall be determined by a poll.
 - (j) For the purposes of General Meetings, the Chair shall not have a casting vote.

6 Proxies

6.1 Right to appoint proxy

- (a) A Member may appoint one proxy.
- (b) A proxy need not be a Member.

6.2 Form of proxy

A form of appointment of a proxy is valid if it is in accordance with the Corporations Act or in any form (including electronic) which the Directors may prescribe or accept.

6.3 Lodgement of proxies

An instrument appointing a proxy is not valid unless it and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which the instrument is signed is received at the registered office of the Company or, if notice of a meeting provides for electronic lodgement of proxies, at the electronic mail address specified in the notice, not less then 48 hours before the time for the meeting commences, or such shorter period as set out in the notice of meeting.

6.4 Validity of proxies

- (a) A vote exercised in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy, a power of attorney or other relevant instrument of appointment is valid despite:
 - (i) the previous death or unsoundness of mind of the principal;
 - (ii) (the revocation of the instrument (or of the authority under which the instrument was executed) or the power; or
 - (iii) the transfer of the share in respect of which the instrument or power is given,

if no notice in writing of the death, unsoundness of mind, revocation or transfer (as the case may be) has been received by the Company at its registered office at least 48 hours (or any shorter period as the Directors may permit or specified by the Corporations Act) before the commencement of the meeting, or adjourned meeting at which the instrument is used or the power is exercised.

(b) A proxy is not revoked by the principal attending and taking part in the meeting unless the principal actually votes at the meeting on a resolution for which the proxy is proposed to be used.

6.5 Where proxy is incomplete

- (a) No instrument appointing a proxy is treated as invalid merely because it does not contain:
 - (i) the address of the appointor or of a proxy;
 - (ii) the proxy's name or the name of the officer held by the proxy; or
 - (iii) in relation to any or all resolutions, an indication of the manner in which the proxy is to vote.
- (b) Where the instrument does not specify the name of a proxy, the instrument is taken to be given in favour of the Chair of the meeting.
- (c) A proxy may vote as the proxy thinks fit on any motion or resolution in respect of which no manner of voting is indicated.

7 Annual General Meetings

- (a) The Company may hold its first annual general meeting at any time within the period of 18 months after its incorporation under the Act.
- (b) With the exception of the first annual general meeting of the Company, the Company must, at least once in each calendar year and within the period of 5 months after the end of each Financial Year, convene an annual general meeting of the Company.
- (c) The Directors may determine the date, time and place of the annual general meeting of the Company.
- (d) The notice convening the annual general meeting must specify that the meeting is an annual general meeting.
- (e) The ordinary business of the annual general meeting shall be:
 - (i) to confirm the minutes of the previous annual general meeting and of any general meeting held since that meeting;
 - (ii) to receive from the Directors reports upon the transactions of the Company during the last preceding Financial Year; and
 - (iii) to elect persons to be Directors.
- (f) The annual general meeting may conduct any special business of which notice has been given in accordance with these Rules.

8 Special General Meetings

- (a) In addition to the annual general meeting, any other general meetings may be held in the same year.
- (b) All general meetings other than the annual general meeting are special general meetings.
- (c) The Directors may, whenever they think fit, convene a special general meeting of the Company.

9 Special Business

All business that is conducted at a special general meeting and all business that is conducted at the annual general meeting, except for business conducted under the constitution as ordinary business of the annual general meeting, is deemed to be special business.

10 Directors

10.1 Sectoral Representation

The number of Directors (not including Alternate Directors) is 3 per Sectoral Chamber and the number of Directors drawn from each Chamber shall be equal.

10.2 Qualification of Directors

- (a) The Directors of the Company shall be persons who are either an Individual Member or the nominated representative of an Organisation Member.
- (b) A Director who is not an Individual Member shall agree to be bound by this constitution as if the Director were a Member.
- (c) Representatives of FSC accredited certification bodies and representatives of government whether Federal or State are not eligible to be Directors.

10.3 Term of Office

- (a) Directors elected under Rule 11 shall hold office:
 - (i) from the end of the annual general meeting at which they are elected,
 - (ii) until the end of the third annual general meeting after they are elected,

subject to Rule 10.4(a) and the Corporations Act.

- (b) Directors may be re-elected.
- (c) Directors appointed to fill casual vacancies under Rule 10.4(b) shall hold office until the end of the next annual general meeting after they are appointed, subject to Rule 10.4(a) and the Corporations Act. Any remaining term of office shall be filled at the next annual general meeting by election under Rule 11.

10.4 Vacation of Office

- (a) In addition to the circumstances in which the office of a Director become vacant under the Corporations Act, the office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director:
 - (i) resigns by notice in writing to the Company;
 - (ii) is absent without the consent of the Directors from meetings of the Directors held during a continuous period of 6 months;
 - (iii) in the case of a Director who at the time of their election or appointment was the nominated representative of an Organisation Member ceases to be the nominated representative ofthat Organisation Member;
 - (iv) in the case of a Director who at the time of their election or appointment was not the nominated representative of an Organisation Member – ceases to be an Individual Member;
 - (v) is removed from office by a resolution of the Members at a general meeting in accordance with the Corporations Act;
 - (vi) becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the laws relating to mental health; or(vii) dies.
- (b) Subject to Rules 10.2 and 10.3(c), the Directors may at any time appoint a person to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy.

10.5 Remuneration

- (a) Subject to paragraphs (b) and (c), no Director is entitled to be paid a fee for his or her service as a Director.
- (b) The Directors will be entitled to be paid or reimbursed for all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by them in the performance of their duties as Directors where the amount payable does not exceed an amount approved by the Directors.
- (c) A Director may be engaged by the Company in any other capacity (other than auditor) and may be appointed on such terms as to remuneration, tenure of office and otherwise as is agreed by the Directors.

10.6 Alternate Director

Subject to this constitution, each Director may appoint any person (who, if there are other Directors, is approved by a majority of the other Directors) to act as an Alternate Director in the Director's place, either for a stated period or until the happening of a specified event, whenever by absence or illness or otherwise the Director is unable to attend to duties as a Director. The person appointed as Alternate Director must be a Member of the same Sectoral Chamber as the Director in whose place the Alternate Director is appointed. The appointment must be in writing and signed by the Director and a copy of the appointment must be given to the registered office or to a meeting of the Directors. The appointment takes effect on (if there are other Directors) approval by a majority of the other Directors or, where the approval has been granted, at any later time specified in the appointment. The following provisions apply to any Alternate Director:

- (a) the appointment of the Alternate Director is terminated or suspended on receipt at the registered office of notice in writing from the Director by whom the Alternate Director was appointed;
- (b) the Alternate Director is entitled to receive notice of meetings of the Directors and to attend and vote at the meetings if the Director by whom the Alternate Director was appointed is not present;
- (c) the Alternate Director is entitled to exercise all the powers (except the power to appoint an Alternate Director) and perform all the duties of a Director, to the extent the Director by whom the Alternate Director was appointed has not exercised or performed them or they have not been limited by the instrument appointing the Alternate Director;
- (d) the Alternate Director will be entitled to be reimbursed under Rule 10.5(b) as if the Alternate Director were a Director;
- (e) the office of the Alternate Director is terminated on the death of, or termination of office by, the Director by whom the Alternate Director was appointed;
- (f) the Alternate Director is not to be taken into account in determining the number of Directors;
- (g) the Alternate Director is, while acting as a Director, responsible to the Company for the Alternate Director's own acts and defaults and is not the agent of the Director by whom the Alternate Director was appointed; and
- (h) an Alternate Director cannot hold office for more than six months at a time.

11 Election of Directors

(a) At each annual general meeting:

- (i) 1 Director shall be elected from each Sectoral Chamber for a term of office expiring at the third annual general meeting after the election; and
- (ii) any remaining term of office of a Director position in which a casual vacancy has arisen since the last annual general meeting shall be filled by election from the corresponding Sectoral Chamber.
- (b) Nominations of candidates for election as Directors must be:
 - (i) made in writing, signed by two Members and accompanied by the written consent of the candidate; and
 - (ii) delivered to the Secretary not less than 25 days before the date fixed for the holding of the annual general meeting.
- (c) The Secretary must inform Members by electronic mail or, where this is not available, by post of the call for nominations at least 60 days prior to the annual general meeting.
- (d) If insufficient nominations are received to fill all vacancies on the Board of Directors, the candidates nominated shall be deemed to be elected and further nominations may be received at the annual general meeting.
- (e) If the number of nominations received is equal to the number of vacancies to be filled, the persons nominated shall be deemed to be elected.
- (f) If the number of nominations exceeds the number of vacancies to be filled, a ballot must be held.
- (g) The ballot for the election of Directors shall be conducted at the annual general meeting in such manner as the Board of Directors may direct, subject to Rule 5.8.
- (h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this constitution, the following table shall apply to the election of Directors at the 2011 AGM and to the terms of the office of Directors after the 2011 AGM:

Director	Sectoral Chamber	Term Expires
Tony Price	Economic	2012 AGM
Vince Erasmus	Economic	2013 AGM
Roslyn Dent	Economic	2014 AGM
Susie Russell	Environmental	2012 AGM
Sean Cadman	Environmental	2014 AGM
Jonathan La Nauze	Environmental	2014 AGM
Jim Adams	Social	2012 AGM
Linda Fienberg	Social	2013 AGM
Tim Anderson	Social	2014 AGM

12 Powers of Directors

12.1 Powers of Directors

- (a) The business of the Company will be managed by the Directors, who may exercise all powers of the Company which are not, by the Corporations Act or this constitution, required to be exercised by the Company in general meeting.
- (b) Without limiting Rule 12.1(a), the Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company to:
 - (iii) borrow money, to charge any property or business of the Company; or

(iv) to issue debentures or give any other security for a debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of any other person.

13 Proceedings of Directors

13.1 Directors meetings

- (a) The Board of Directors must meet, face to face or electronically, at least four times a year at such place and such times as the Board of Directors may determine.
- (b) Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be convened at any time by, or shall be convened by the Secretary on the request of, the Chair or at least two thirds of Directors.
- (c) The Chief Executive Officer may attend meetings of the Board of Directors.

13.2 Quorum for Directors meetings

- (a) At least half of the number of Directors constitute a quorum for the transaction of the business of a meeting of the Board of Directors, provided that at least one Director representing each Sectoral Chamber is present.
- (b) No business may be transacted unless a quorum is present.
- (c) If within half an hour of the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present,
 - (i) in the case of a special meeting, the meeting lapses; and
 - (ii) in any other case, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same place and at the same time and day in the following week.
 - (d) If at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within half an hour of the time appointed of the meeting, the meeting is to be dissolved.

13.3 Notice

- (a) Written notice of each meeting of the Directors must be given to each member of the Board of Directors at least 5 business days before the date of the meeting.
- (b) Written notice shall be given to members of the Board of Directors of any special meeting specifying the general nature of the business to be conducted and no other business shall be conducted at such a meeting.

13.4 Directors meetings by technology

- (a) Unless each Director consents otherwise, for the purposes of the Corporations Act, each Director, by consenting to be a Director (or by reason of the adoption of this constitution), consents to the use of each of the following technologies for holding a Directors meeting:
 - (i) video conference;
 - (ii) telephone;
 - (iii) electronic mail;
 - (iv) any other technology which permits each Director to communicate with every other Director; or
 - (v) any combination of these technologies.

A Director may withdraw the consent given under this Rule in accordance with the Corporations Act.

(b) Where the Directors are not all in attendance at one place and are holding a meeting using technology and each Director can communicate with the other Directors:

- (i) the participating Directors are, for the purpose of every provision of this constitution concerning meetings of the Directors, taken to be assembled together at a meeting and to be present at that meeting; and
- (ii) all proceedings of those Directors conducted in that manner are as valid and effective as if conducted at a meeting at which all of them were physically present in one location.

13.5 Chair of Directors

- (a) The Directors shall elect one of their number as their Chair and who will hold office as Chair for a period of 12 months.
- (b) The Chair shall be elected at the first meeting after the Annual Meeting.
- (c) Where a meeting of Directors is held and:
 - (i) a Chair has not been elected as provided by Rule 13.5(a); or
 - (ii) the Chair is not present at the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or does not wish to chair the meeting,

the Directors present may elect one of their number to be chair of the meeting.

13.6 Directors' voting rights and exercise of powers

- (a) Where possible, the Board of Directors will aim to determine questions arising at a meeting of the Board of Directors in accordance with Consensus.
- (b) Where Consensus is not possible a question shall be resolved by a two thirds majority comprising at least one Director nominated by each Sectoral Chamber for ordinary business and where a question relates to policies or standards, it shall only pass if it is affirmed by at least 5 Directors if the Board comprises 6 Directors or by at least 8 Directors if the Board comprises 9 Directors.
- (c) Where voting is required it will be on a show of hands or, if a Member requests, by a poll taken in such manner as the person presiding at that meeting may determine.
- (d) Each Director present at a meeting of the Directors is entitled to one vote.
- (e) In the case of an equality of votes, the Chair of the meeting does not have a casting vote.

13.7 Conflict of interests

- (a) A Director is not liable to account to the Company for any profit realised by any contract or arrangement, by reason only of holding the office of Director or of the fiduciary relationship established by the office.
- (b) A Director is not disqualified from contracting with the Company in any capacity by reason of holding the office of Director.
- (c) In relation to a contract or arrangement in which a Director is in any way interested:
 - (i) the fact that the Director signed the document on behalf of the Company evidencing the contract or arrangement will not in any way affect its validity; and
 - (ii) the contract or arrangement may not be avoided merely because the Director is a party to the contract or arrangement or otherwise interested in it.

13.8 Material personal Interest

(a) Subject to paragraph (b), a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that relates to the affairs of the Company must give the other Directors notice of his or her interest in accordance with the Corporations Act.

- (b) A Director with a material personal interest in a matter that relates to the affairs of the Company is not required to give notice in the following circumstances:
 - (i) if all of the following conditions are met:
 - (A) the Director has already given notice of the nature and extent of the interest and its relation to the affairs of the Company;
 - (B) if a person who was not a Director at the time the notice was given is appointed as a Director, the notice is given to that person; and
 - (C) the nature or extent of the interest has not materially increased above that disclosed in the notice;
 - (ii) if the Director has given a standing notice of the nature and extent of the interest in accordance with the Corporations Act and that standing notice is still effective in relation to the interest; or
 - (iii) as otherwise permitted under the Corporations Act.
- (c) A Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is being considered at a Board of Directors meeting must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting or vote on the matter, except as permitted in accordance with the Corporations Act.
- (d) Nothing in this Rule affects the duty of a Director:
 - (i) who holds any office or possesses any property whereby, directly or indirectly, duties or interests might be created in conflict with the Director's duties or interests as a Director, to declare at a meeting of Directors, the fact and the nature, character and extent of the conflict; or
 - (ii) to comply with the Corporations Act or any other law.

13.9 Committees

- (a) The Directors may delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of any one or more Directors or any other person or persons as the Directors think fit and may revoke that delegation.
- (b) Where a committee consists of any Directors, the Sectoral Chambers shall be equally represented unless the Directors by resolution determine otherwise. The reason for that determination must be included in the resolution, which must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting at which the resolution was passed.
- (c) The Directors may convene a general meeting to elect nominated persons to committees by way of ballot if the Directors determine that there is strong interests from Members and other Stakeholders wishing to participate in a committee.
- (d) A committee to which any powers have been delegated under paragraph (a), must exercise those powers in accordance with any directions of the Directors. These powers are then taken to have been exercised by the Directors.
- (e) Subject to paragraph (d), the meetings and proceedings of any committee are to be governed by the provisions of this constitution for regulating the meetings and proceedings of the Directors so far as they are applicable and the Procedures Manual.

13.10 Special Advisory Groups

(a) The Board of Directors may appoint Special Advisory Groups consisting of experts in a particular field to provide advice to the Board of Directors on specified matters as determined by the Board of Directors.

- (b) Appointments to a Special Advisory Group should ensure a balance of interests.
- (c) All proceedings must be governed by provisions of this Constitution and the Procedure Manual.

13.11 Special Working Group

- (a) The Board of Directors may by resolution appoint Special Working Groups (SWG) to advise the Company on forest management standards. Members of the SWG may or may not be Members of the Company.
- (b) Where an SWG consists of any Directors, the Sectoral Chambers shall be equally represented.
- (c) The SWG will be responsible for timely and adequate communication and consultation and report its recommendations to the Board of Directors for appropriate action.
- (d) The Special Working Group's recommendations may include that an item is put to a vote of Members.

13.12 Dispute Resolution Committee

- (a) The Board of Directors will establish a Disputes Resolution Committee (DRC) to address disputes and grievances from Members and Stakeholders.
- (b) The DRC will be consist of the Board of Directors, or at least three Directors, one from each Sectoral Chamber.
- (c) Procedures for the DRC must be in accordance with the Procedures Manual.
- (d) Members may submit disputes or grievances in relation to Australian forest management standards or administrative matters relating to the Company as set out in the Procedure Manual.

13.13 Written resolutions

- (a) A resolution in writing signed by all Directors or a resolution in writing of which notice has been given to all Directors and which is signed by a majority of the Directors entitled to vote on the resolution (not being less than the number required for a quorum at a meeting of the Directors including the requirement to have a Director representation from each Sectoral Chamber) is a valid resolution of the Directors and is effective when signed by the last of all the Directors or the last of the Directors constituting the majority, as required.
- (b) For the purpose of this Rule, the references to Directors include any Alternate Director for the time being present in Australia who is appointed by a Director for the time being not present in Australia but do not include any other Alternate Director.
- (c) The resolution may consist of several documents in the same form each signed by one or more of the Directors. A facsimile transmission or other document produced by mechanical or electronic means under the name of a Director with the Director's authority is considered a document in writing signed by the Director and is deemed to be signed when received in legible form.

13.14 Defects in appointments

- (a) All acts done by any meeting of the Directors or person acting as a Director are as valid as if each person was duly appointed and qualified to be a Director.
- (b) Paragraph (a) applies even if it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of a person to be a Director or to act as a Director or that a person so appointed was disqualified.

13.15 If less than minimum number of Directors

If the number of Directors does not contain an equal number of Directors drawn from each Sectoral Chamber or is below 6, the continuing Directors may act for the purpose of increasing the number of Directors to that number or of calling a general meeting of the Company but for no other purpose.

14 Officers

14.1 Appointment of a Chief Executive Officer

The Directors may appoint a person to be the Chief Executive Officer for such period and on such terms as they think fit. Subject to the terms of any agreement entered into in a particular case, the Directors may at any time terminate any such appointment.

14.2 Powers of a Chief Executive Officer

Except for voting, the Directors may delegate to the Chief Executive Officer any of the powers exercisable by them under this constitution and may at any time withdraw, suspend or vary any of those powers. The delegation of powers to the Chief Executive Officer does not prevent the exercise of those powers by the Directors.

14.3 Appointment of Secretary

There must be at least one Secretary who is to be appointed by the Directors.

14.4 Powers, duties and authorities of Secretary

The Secretary holds office on the terms and conditions, and with the powers, duties and authorities, as the Directors decide.

14.5 Termination of appointment of secretary

The Directors may at any time terminate the appointment of a Secretary.

14.6 Appointment of other officers

- (a) Subject to 14.6(b), the Board of Directors may from time to time:
 - create any other position or positions in the Company with the powers and responsibilities as the Board of Directors may from time to time decide; and
 - (ii) appoint any person, whether or not a Director, to any position or positions created under 14.6(i).
- (b) Representatives of accredited certification bodies and representatives of the Australian Government, whether Federal or State, are not eligible for appointment as officers of the Company.

14.7 Termination of appointment of other officers

The Directors may at any time terminate the appointment of a person holding a position created under Rule 14.6(i) and may abolish the position.

15 Seals

15.1 Seals and their Use

The Company may have a common seal and a duplicate common seal which are to be used by the Company as determined by the Directors.

16 Notices

16.1 Notices generally

Any Member who has not left at or sent to the registered office, a place of address or an electronic mail address (for registration in the Register) at or to which all notices and documents of the Company may be served or sent is not entitled to receive any notice.

16.2 Notice of General Meeting

The Secretary, at least 21 days, or if a Special Resolution has been proposed at least 28 days, before the date fixed for holding a general meeting of the Company, must cause to be sent to each Member a notice stating the place, date and time of the meeting and the nature of the business to be conducted at the meeting, including, in the case of notice of a meeting to propose a Special Resolution, the intention to propose a resolution as a Special Resolution.

16.3 How notice may be given

The Company may give notice to a Member, in its discretion, by:

- (a) serving it on the Member personally;
- (b) sending it by post to or leaving it at the Member's address as shown in the Register or an alternative address supplied by the Member;
- (c) sending it to the fax number or electronic mail address supplied by the Member.

16.4 Personal service or delivery

A notice served on a Member personally or left at the Member's address is considered to have been served when delivered.

16.5 Notice by post

A notice sent by post:

- (a) if sent to an address in Australia, may be sent by ordinary post; and
- (b) if sent to an address outside Australia, must be sent by airmail,

and in either case is considered to have been served at the expiration of three working days after the notice is posted in the case of addresses in Australia or 7 working days in the case of addresses outside Australia, provided that it is properly addressed.

16.6 Notice by fax or electronic mail

Any notice sent by fax or electronic mail is considered to have been served on the day it is sent, provided that it is properly addressed.

17 Winding Up

17.1 Winding Up

If upon winding up or dissolution of the Company there remains, after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever the property must not be paid to or distributed among the Members but must be given or transferred to one or more organisations selected by the Members at or before the time of dissolution:

- (a) having purposes similar to the objects of the Company set out in Rule 2.1;
- (b) with preference being given to non for profit entities which are either educational, scientific or cultural in focus; and
- (c) which by its constitution is required to apply its profits (if any) or other income solely in promoting its objects and is prohibited from distributing its income and property to its Members,

and, with respect to any Public Fund money, which is referred to in Rule 19.2.

17.2 Amalgamation

Where it furthers the purposes of the Company to amalgamate with any one or more other organisations having similar purposes to the purposes of the Company, the other organisation or organisations must have Rules prohibiting the distribution of its income and property to Members.

18 Indemnity

18.1 Indemnity of Officers, Insurance and Access

- (a) The Company is to indemnify each officer of the Company out of the assets of the Company to the relevant extent against any liability incurred by the officer in or arising out of the conduct of the business of the Company or in or arising out of the discharge of the duties of the officer.
- (b) Where the Directors consider it appropriate, the Company may execute a documentary indemnity in any form in favour of any officer of the Company or a subsidiary.
- (c) Where the Directors consider it appropriate, the Company may:
 - (i) make payments by way of premium in respect of any contract effecting insurance on behalf or in respect of an officer of the Company against any liability incurred by the officer in or arising out of the conduct of the business of the Company or in or arising out of the discharge of the duties of the officer; and
 - (ii) bind itself in any contract or deed with any officer of the Company to make the payments.
- (d) Where the Directors consider it appropriate, the Company may:
 - (i) give a former Director access to certain papers, including documents provided or available to the Directors and other papers referred to in those documents; and
 - (ii) bind itself in any contract with a Director or former Director to give the access.
- (e) In this Rule 18:
 - (i) officer means:
 - (A) a Director or Secretary, Chief Executive Officer or employee; or

(B) a person appointed as a trustee by, or acting as a trustee at the request of, the Company,

and includes a former officer.

- (ii) duties of the officer includes, in any particular case where the Directors consider it appropriate, duties arising by reason of the appointment, nomination or secondment in any capacity of an officer by the Company or, where applicable, the subsidiary of the Company to any other corporation.
- (iii) to the relevant extent means:
 - (A) to the extent the Company is not precluded by law from doing so;
 - (B) to the extent and for the amount that the officer is not otherwise entitled to be indemnified and is not actually indemnified by another person (including, but without limitation, a subsidiary or an insurer under any insurance policy); and
 - (C) where the liability is incurred in or arising out of the conduct of the business of another corporation or in the discharge of the duties of the officer in relation to another corporation, to the extent and for the amount that the officer is not entitled to be indemnified and is not actually indemnified out of the assets of that corporation.
- (iv) liability means all costs, charges, losses, damages, expenses, penalties and liabilities of any kind including, in particular, legal costs incurred in defending any proceedings (whether criminal, civil, administrative or judicial) or appearing before any court, tribunal, government authority or other body.

19 The Responsible Forest Management Australia Public Fund

19.1 Establishment and Rules

- (a) The Responsible Forest Management Australia Public Fund (the Public Fund) is established pursuant to the Constitution of the Company.
- (b) The Public Fund is established for the specific and sole purpose of supporting the principal environmental objects of the Company.
- (c) The role of the Public Fund is to:
 - (i) receive gifts of money or property for the Public Fund's purpose;
 - (ii) credit to the Public Fund any interest earned on such gifted money; and
 - (iii) credit to the Public Fund any money derived from such gifted property.
- (d) The Public Fund is not to receive any money or property other than that received as a gift for the principal objects of the Company.
- (e) The Public Fund is to comply with subdivision 30-E of the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997*.
- (f) The Company and the Public Fund will invite members of the general public to make donations of money or property to the Public Fund for the environmental objects of the Company.
- (g) All moneys donated to the Company, all interest accrued on such moneys, all income derived from donated property and all money received from the realisation of such property will be deposited into the Public Fund.

- (h) Receipts are to be issued in the name of the Public Fund to donors and proper accounting records and procedures are to be kept and used for the Public Fund. All such receipts are to be endorsed with the following: "The Responsible Forest Management Australia Public Fund is a public fund listed on the Register of Environmental Organisations under the *Income Tax Assessment Act 1997* Donations of \$2 or more are tax deductible."
- (i) Donations to the Public Fund are to be kept separate from other funds of the Company.
- (j) A separate bank account is to be opened to deposit money donated to the Public Fund, including interest accruing thereon.
- (k) The Public Fund will be operated on a non-profit basis. None of the money or property accumulated by the Public Fund will be distributed to members of the Company apart from the payment of proper remuneration for administrative services as permitted under rule (I).
- (I) The Public Fund can be used to pay for the reasonable operating expenses of the Company including rent, stationery, salaries and wages.
- (m) The books and records of the Public Fund will be separately audited by the Public Fund's accountants to confirm that the Public Fund has been properly administered in accordance with these rules.
- (n) The Public Fund will be administered by a committee of management who shall be responsible for all its functions including the making of investment and land deposit and acquisition decisions.
- (o) The committee of management shall comprise no fewer than three persons and may include the directors. The chief executive officer of the Company, if any, shall be a member of the committee of management. The committee will be appointed by the directors. A majority of the members of the committee of management are required to have the requisite degree of responsibility to the general community as required by the Register of Environmental Organisations Guidelines, being persons who, because of their tenure of some public office or their position in the community, have a degree of responsibility to the community as a whole as distinct from obligations solely in regard to the environmental objectives of the Company.
- (p) These rules may be amended only by a resolution recommended by a majority of the directors and as passed by the members of the Company.
- (q) Any changes to these rules are to be advised to the Commonwealth Department with responsibility for the environment within a reasonable time following the making of the changes.

19.2 Winding Up of the Public Fund

In the event of the winding up or dissolution of the Public Fund, if there remains, after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any surplus assets or property whatsoever within the Public Fund, it shall not be paid to or distributed among the members of the Company but shall be given or transferred to another fund with similar objectives that is on the Register of Environmental Organisations.

19.3 Statistical Return

The Public Fund agrees to give to the secretary of the Commonwealth Department with responsibility for the environment within four months after the end of each financial year, statistical information in the required form relating to donations received by the Public Fund during that financial year. An audited financial statement for the Company and the Public Fund will be supplied

with the annual statistical return. The statement will provide information on the expenditure of Public Fund monies and the management of Public Fund assets.

19.4 Compliance with Ministerial Rules

The Company agrees to comply with any rules that the Commonwealth Treasurer and the Minister with responsibility for the environment may make from time to time restricting the use of gifts to the Public Fund to the principal objects of the Company

Schedule 1

Deleted by Special Resolution dated 26 May 2011

Schedule 2

FSC Principles and Criteria

Introduction

It is widely accepted that forest resources and associated lands should be managed to meet the social, economic, ecological, cultural and spiritual needs of present and future generations. Furthermore, growing public awareness of forest destruction and degradation has led consumers to demand that their purchases of wood and other forest products will not contribute to this destruction but rather help to secure forest resources for the future. In response to these demands, certification and self-certification programs of wood products have proliferated in the marketplace.

The Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) is an international body which accredits certification organisations in order to guarantee the authenticity of their claims. In all cases the process of certification will be initiated voluntarily by forest owners and managers who request the services of a certification organisation. The goal of FSC is to promote environmentally responsible, socially beneficial and economically viable management of the world's forests, by establishing a worldwide standard of recognised and respected Principles of Forest Stewardship.

The FSC's Principles and Criteria (P&C) apply to all tropical, temperate and boreal forests, as addressed in Principle #9 and the accompanying glossary. Many of these P&C apply also to plantations and partially replanted forests. More detailed standards for these and other vegetation types may be prepared at national and local levels. The P&C are to be incorporated into the evaluation systems and standards of all certification organisations seeking accreditation by FSC. While the P&C are mainly designed for forests managed for the production of wood products, they are also relevant, to varying degrees, to forests managed for non-timber products and other services. The P&C are a complete package to be considered as a whole, and their sequence does not represent an ordering of priority. This document shall be used in conjunction with the FSC's Statutes, Procedures for Accreditation and Guidelines for Certifiers.

FSC and FSC-accredited certification organisations will not insist on perfection in satisfying the P&C. However, major failures in any individual Principles will normally disqualify a candidate from certification, or will lead to decertification. These decisions will be taken by individual certifiers, and guided by the extent to which each Criterion is satisfied, and by the importance and consequences of failures. Some flexibility will be allowed to cope with local circumstances.

The scale and intensity of forest management operations, the uniqueness of the affected resources, and the relative ecological fragility of the forest will be considered in all certification assessments. Differences and difficulties of interpretation of the P&C will be addressed in national and local forest stewardship standards. These standards are to be developed in each country or region involved, and will be evaluated for purposes of certification, by certifiers and other involved and affected parties on a case by case basis. If necessary, FSC dispute resolution mechanisms may also be called upon during the course of assessment. More information and guidance about the certification and accreditation process is included in the FSC Statutes, Accreditation Procedures, and Guidelines for Certifiers.

The FSC P&C should be used in conjunction with national and international laws and regulations. FSC intends to complement, not supplant, other initiatives that support responsible forest management worldwide.

The FSC will conduct educational activities to increase public awareness of the importance of the following:

- improving forest management;
- incorporating the full costs of management and production into the price of forest products;
- promoting the highest and best use of forest resources;
- reducing damage and waste; and
- avoiding over-consumption and over-harvesting.

FSC will also provide guidance to policy makers on these issues, including improving forest management legislation and policies.

Principle 1: Compliance with Laws and FSC Principles

Forest management shall respect all applicable laws of the country in which they occur, and international treaties and agreements to which the country is a signatory, and comply with all FSC Principles and Criteria.

Criteria:

- 1.1 Forest management shall respect all national and local laws and administrative requirements.
- 1.2 All applicable and legally prescribed fees, royalties, taxes and other charges shall be paid.
- 1.3 In signatory countries, the provisions of all binding international agreements such as CITES, ILO Conventions, ITTA, and Convention on Biological Diversity, shall be respected.
- 1.4 Conflicts between laws, regulations and the FSC Principles and Criteria shall be evaluated for the purposes of certification, on a case by case basis, by the certifiers and the involved or affected parties.
- 1.5 Forest management areas should be protected from illegal harvesting, settlement and other unauthorized activities.
- 1.6 Forest managers shall demonstrate a long-term commitment to adhere to the FSC Principles and Criteria.

Principle 2: Tenure and Use Rights and Responsibilities

Long-term tenure and use rights to the land and forest resources shall be clearly defined, documented and legally established.

- 2.1 Clear evidence of long-term forest use rights to the land (e.g. land title, customary rights, or lease agreements) shall be demonstrated.
- 2.2 Local communities with legal or customary tenure or use rights shall maintain control, to the extent necessary to protect their rights or resources, over forest operations unless they delegate control with free and informed consent to other agencies.

2.3 Appropriate mechanisms shall be employed to resolve disputes over tenure claims and use rights. The circumstances and status of any outstanding disputes will be explicitly considered in the certification evaluation. Disputes of substantial magnitude involving a significant number of interests will normally disqualify an operation from being certified.

Principle 3: Indigenous People's Rights

The legal and customary rights of indigenous peoples to own, use and manage their lands, territories, and resources shall be recognised and respected.

Criteria:

- 3.1 Indigenous peoples shall control forest management on their lands and territories unless they delegate control with free and informed consent to other agencies.
- 3.2 Forest management shall not threaten or diminish, either directly or indirectly, the resources or tenure rights of indigenous peoples.
- 3.3 Sites of special cultural, ecological, economic or religious significance to indigenous peoples shall be clearly identified in cooperation with such peoples, and recognised and protected by forest managers.
- 3.4 Indigenous peoples shall be compensated for the application of their traditional knowledge regarding the use of forest species or management systems in forest operations. This compensation shall be formally agreed upon with their free and informed consent before forest operations commence.

Principle 4: Community Relations and Workers' Rights

Forest management operations shall maintain or enhance the long-term social and economic well-being of forest workers and local communities.

Criteria:

- 4.1 The communities within, or adjacent to, the forest management area should be given opportunities for employment, training, and other services.
- 4.2 Forest management should meet or exceed all applicable laws and/or regulations covering health and safety of employees and their families.
- 4.3 The rights of workers to organise and voluntarily negotiate with their employers shall be guaranteed as outlined in Conventions 87 and 98 of the International Labour Organisation (ILO).
- 4.4 Management planning and operations shall incorporate the results of evaluations of social impact. Consultations shall be maintained with people and groups (both men and women) directly affected by management operations.
- 4.5 Appropriate mechanisms shall be employed for resolving grievances and for providing fair compensation in the case of loss or damage affecting the legal or customary rights, property, resources, or livelihoods of local peoples. Measures shall be taken to avoid such loss or damage.

Principle 5: Benefits from the Forest

Forest management operations shall encourage the efficient use of the forest's multiple products and services to ensure economic viability and a wide range of environmental and social benefits.

Criteria:

- 5.1 Forest management should strive toward economic viability, while taking into account the full environmental, social, and operational costs of production, and ensuring the investments necessary to maintain the ecological productivity of the forest.
- 5.2 Forest management and marketing operations should encourage the optimal use and local processing of the forest's diversity of products.
- 5.3 Forest management should minimise waste associated with harvesting and on-site processing operations and avoid damage to other forest resources.
- 5.4 Forest management should strive to strengthen and diversify the local economy, avoiding dependence on a single forest product.
- 5.5 Forest management operations shall recognise, maintain, and, where appropriate, enhance the value of forest services and resources such as watersheds and fisheries.
- 5.6 The rate of harvest of forest products shall not exceed levels which can be permanently sustained.

Principle 6: Environmental Impact

Forest management shall conserve biological diversity and its associated values, water resources, soils, and unique and fragile ecosystems and landscapes, and, by so doing, maintain the ecological functions and the integrity of the forest.

- 6.1 Assessment of environmental impacts shall be completed -- appropriate to the scale, intensity of forest management and the uniqueness of the affected resources -- and adequately integrated into management systems. Assessments shall include landscape level considerations as well as the impacts of on-site processing facilities. Environmental impacts shall be assessed prior to commencement of site-disturbing operations.
- 6.2 Safeguards shall exist which protect rare, threatened and endangered species and their habitats (e.g., nesting and feeding areas). Conservation zones and protection areas shall be established, appropriate to the scale and intensity of forest management and the uniqueness of the affected resources. Inappropriate hunting, fishing, trapping and collecting shall be controlled.
- 6.3 Ecological functions and values shall be maintained intact, enhanced, or restored, including:
 - (a) Forest regeneration and succession.
 - (b) Genetic, species, and ecosystem diversity.
 - c) Natural cycles that affect the productivity of the forest ecosystem.
- 6.4 Representative samples of existing ecosystems within the landscape shall be protected in their natural state and recorded on maps, appropriate to the scale and intensity of operations and the uniqueness of the affected resources.
- 6.5 Written guidelines shall be prepared and implemented to: control erosion; minimise forest damage during harvesting, road construction, and all other mechanical disturbances; and protect water resources.

- 6.6 Management systems shall promote the development and adoption of environmentally friendly non-chemical methods of pest management and strive to avoid the use of chemical pesticides. World Health Organisation Type 1A and 1B and chlorinated hydrocarbon pesticides; pesticides that are persistent, toxic or whose derivatives remain biologically active and accumulate in the food chain beyond their intended use; as well as any pesticides banned by international agreement, shall be prohibited. If chemicals are used, proper equipment and training shall be provided to minimise health and environmental risks.
- 6.7 Chemicals, containers, liquid and solid non-organic wastes including fuel and oil shall be disposed of in an environmentally appropriate manner at off-site locations.
- 6.8 Use of biological control agents shall be documented, minimised, monitored and strictly controlled in accordance with national laws and internationally accepted scientific protocols. Use of genetically modified organisms shall be prohibited.
- 6.9 The use of exotic species shall be carefully controlled and actively monitored to avoid adverse ecological impacts.
- 6.10 Forest conversion to plantations or non-forest land uses shall not occur, except in circumstances where conversion:
 - (a) entails a very limited portion of the forest management unit; and
 - (b) does not occur on high conservation value forest areas; and
 - (c) will enable clear, substantial, additional, secure, long term conservation benefits across the forest management unit.

Principle 7: Management Plan

A management plan -- appropriate to the scale and intensity of the operations -- shall be written, implemented, and kept up to date. The long term objectives of management, and the means of achieving them, shall be clearly stated.

- 7.1 The management plan and supporting documents shall provide:
 - (a) Management objectives.
 - (b) Description of the forest resources to be managed, environmental limitations, land use and ownership status, socio-economic conditions, and a profile of adjacent lands.
 - (c) Description of silvicultural and/or other management system, based on the ecology of the forest in question and information gathered through resource inventories.
 - (d) Rationale for rate of annual harvest and species selection.
 - (e) Provisions for monitoring of forest growth and dynamics.
 - (f) Environmental safeguards based on environmental assessments.
 - (g) Plans for the identification and protection of rare, threatened and endangered species.
 - (h) Maps describing the forest resource base including protected areas, planned management activities and land ownership.
 - (i) Description and justification of harvesting techniques and equipment to be used.
- 7.2 The management plan shall be periodically revised to incorporate the results of monitoring or new scientific and technical information, as well as to respond to changing environmental, social and economic circumstances.

- 7.3 Forest workers shall receive adequate training and supervision to ensure proper implementation of the management plan.
- 7.4 While respecting the confidentiality of information, forest managers shall make publicly available a summary of the primary elements of the management plan, including those listed in Criterion 7.1.

Principle 8: Monitoring and Assessment

Monitoring shall be conducted -- appropriate to the scale and intensity of forest management -- to assess the condition of the forest, yields of forest products, chain of custody, management activities and their social and environmental impacts.

Criteria:

- 8.1 The frequency and intensity of monitoring should be determined by the scale and intensity of forest management operations as well as the relative complexity and fragility of the affected environment. Monitoring procedures should be consistent and replicable over time to allow comparison of results and assessment of change.
- 8.2 Forest management should include the research and data collection needed to monitor, at a minimum, the following indicators:
 - (a) Yield of all forest products harvested.
 - (b) Growth rates, regeneration and condition of the forest.
 - (c) Composition and observed changes in the Flora and fauna.
 - (d) Environmental and social impacts of harvesting and other operations.
 - (e) Costs, productivity, and efficiency of forest management.
- 8.3 Documentation shall be provided by the forest manager to enable monitoring and certifying organisations to trace each forest product from its origin, a process known as the "chain of custody."
- 8.4 The results of monitoring shall be incorporated into the implementation and revision of the management plan.
- 8.5 While respecting the confidentiality of information, forest managers shall make publicly available a summary of the results of monitoring indicators, including those listed in Criterion 8.2.

Principle 9: Maintenance of High Conservation Value Forests

Management activities in high conservation value forests shall maintain or enhance the attributes which define such forests. Decisions regarding high conservation value forests shall always be considered in the context of a precautionary approach.

- 9.1 Assessment to determine the presence of the attributes consistent with High Conservation Value Forests will be completed, appropriate to scale and intensity of forest management.
- 9.2 The consultative portion of the certification process must place emphasis on the identified conservation attributes, and options for the maintenance thereof.
- 9.3 The management plan shall include and implement specific measures that ensure the maintenance and/or enhancement of the applicable conservation attributes consistent with

- the precautionary approach. These measures shall be specifically included in the publicly available management plan summary.
- 9.4 Annual monitoring shall be conducted to assess the effectiveness of the measures employed to maintain or enhance the applicable conservation attributes.

Principle 10: Plantations

Plantations shall be planned and managed in accordance with Principles and Criteria 1 - 9, and Principle 10 and its Criteria. While plantations can provide an array of social and economic benefits, and can contribute to satisfying the world's needs for forest products, they should complement the management of, reduce pressures on, and promote the restoration and conservation of natural forests.

- 10.1 The management objectives of the plantation, including natural forest conservation and restoration objectives, shall be explicitly stated in the management plan, and clearly demonstrated in the implementation of the plan.
- 10.2 The design and layout of plantations should promote the protection, restoration and conservation of natural forests, and not increase pressures on natural forests. Wildlife corridors, streamside zones and a mosaic of stands of different ages and rotation periods, shall be used in the layout of the plantation, consistent with the scale of the operation. The scale and layout of plantation blocks shall be consistent with the patterns of forest stands found within the natural landscape.
- 10.3 Diversity in the composition of plantations is preferred, so as to enhance economic, ecological and social stability. Such diversity may include the size and spatial distribution of management units within the landscape, number and genetic composition of species, age classes and structures.
- 10.4 The selection of species for planting shall be based on their overall suitability for the site and their appropriateness to the management objectives. In order to enhance the conservation of biological diversity, native species are preferred over exotic species in the establishment of plantations and the restoration of degraded ecosystems. Exotic species, which shall be used only when their performance is greater than that of native species, shall be carefully monitored to detect unusual mortality, disease, or insect outbreaks and adverse ecological impacts.
- 10.5 A proportion of the overall forest management area, appropriate to the scale of the plantation and to be determined in regional standards, shall be managed so as to restore the site to a natural forest cover.
- 10.6 Measures shall be taken to maintain or improve soil structure, fertility, and biological activity. The techniques and rate of harvesting, road and trail construction and maintenance, and the choice of species shall not result in long term soil degradation or adverse impacts on water quality, quantity or substantial deviation from stream course drainage patterns.
- 10.7 Measures shall be taken to prevent and minimise outbreaks of pests, diseases, fire and invasive plant introductions. Integrated pest management shall form an essential part of the management plan, with primary reliance on prevention and biological control methods rather than chemical pesticides and fertilisers. Plantation management should make every effort to

- move away from chemical pesticides and fertilisers, including their use in nurseries. The use of chemicals is also covered in Criteria 6.6 and 6.7.
- 10.8 Appropriate to the scale and diversity of the operation, monitoring of plantations shall include regular assessment of potential on-site and off-site ecological and social impacts, (e.g. natural regeneration, effects on water resources and soil fertility, and impacts on local welfare and social well-being), in addition to those elements addressed in principles 8, 6 and 4. No species should be planted on a large scale until local trials and/or experience have shown that they are ecologically well-adapted to the site, are not invasive, and do not have significant negative ecological impacts on other ecosystems. Special attention will be paid to social issues of land acquisition for plantations, especially the protection of local rights of ownership, use or access.
- 10.9 Plantations established in areas converted from natural forests after November 1994 normally shall not qualify for certification. Certification may be allowed in circumstances where sufficient evidence is submitted to the certification body that the manager/owner is not responsible directly or indirectly of such conversion.

Schedule 3

Deleted by Special Resolution on 27/4/2010

Schedule 4

Worked example

- (a) Assume:
 - (i) the Economic Chamber has 20 Individual Members and 100 Organisation Members;
 - (ii) the Social Chamber has 2 Individual Members and 20 Organisation Members; and
 - (iii) the Environmental Chamber has 1 Individual Member and 9 Organisation Members.
- (b) The starting point is that all Members have 1 vote each.
- (c) Then applying rule 5.8(b)(i) the votes are adjusted as follows:
 - (i) for the Economic Chamber (as Individual Members account for more than 10% of this Sectoral Chamber)
 - (A) the 20 Individual Members have half a vote each;
 - (B) the 100 Organisation Members have 1 vote each;
 - (ii) for the Social Chamber (no adjustment as Individual Members account for 10% of this Sectoral Chamber)
 - (A) the 2 Individual Members have 1 vote each;
 - (B) the 20 Organisation Members have 1 vote each;
 - (iii) for the Environmental Chamber (no adjustment as Individual Members account for 10% of this Sectoral Chamber)
 - (A) the 1 Individual Members has 1 vote; and
 - (B) the 9 Organisation Members have 1 vote each;
- (d) Then applying rule 5.8(b)(ii) the votes are further adjusted as follows:
 - (i) for the Economic Chamber (no adjustment as it has the largest number of votes):
 - (A) the 20 Individual Members have half a vote each;
 - (B) the 100 Organisation Members have 1 vote each;
 - (ii) for the Social Chamber (increased so that it has the same voting power as the Economic Chamber ie 110 votes):
 - (A) the 2 Individual Members have 5 vote each;
 - (B) the 20 Organisation Members have 5 vote each;
 - (iii) for the Environmental Chamber (increased so that it has the same voting power as the Economic Chamber ie 110 votes)
 - (A) the 1 Individual Members has 11 vote; and
 - (B) the 9 Organisation Members have 11 vote each.